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Purpose 
The purpose of this request for proposals is to determine a qualified vendor to provide the City Schools of Decatur 
(CSD) with services related to the analysis of property taxes and related policy, especially as it relates to homestead 
exemptions. 

Background 
Over the last decade enrollment growth in CSD has been steadily outpacing the growth in the tax digest. Between 
2008-2017 student enrollment in CSD grew at a compound annual rate of 7.37%. During the same period, the tax 
digest grew at a much lower rate of only 3.26%.  
 
In 2016 a senior homestead tax exemption with a five year sunset clause was enacted completely exempting all 
residents 65 and over from paying any school property taxes. The primary intent of the senior tax exemption was 
to improve the balance between enrollment and tax digest growth. In our area there is a trend of seniors selling 
smaller single family homes to builders and investors who then replace them with large new construction homes 
where typically more children move in. Providing tax relief to allow low income seniors to age in place was a 
means by which CSD hoped to slow enrollment growth.  
 
The anticipated homestead tax loss from the additional exemption was $1,200,000 annually. However, the actual 
homestead tax loss has been much higher than anticipated. At the time of passage, the local board of education 
committed to studying the impact of the senior homestead exemption on the tax base and to analyzing its 
effectiveness as a tool to slow the growth of student enrollment in schools. The results of this study will determine 
what adjustments, if any, should be made before renewal. 

Timeline 
RFP posted: 11/30/18 12/20/18 
Intent to submit submitted: 4:00pm EST 12/12/18 

4:00pm EST 1/15/19 
Questions submitted: 4:00pm EST 12/14/18  

4:00pm EST 1/15/19 
Questions answered: 12/21/18 1/22/19 

Responses submitted: 2:00pm EST 1/18/19 
8:00am EST 2/11/19 

Tentative vendor selection: 1/28/19 3/8/19 
Board of Education approval: 1/29/19 3/12/19 
Purchase order generated: 1/30/19 By 3/15/19 
Work completed and invoiced: By 6/14/19 6/30/19 
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District and project overview 
● CSD services almost 6,000 students with about 900 staff members across nine schools in the 4-square-mile 

City of Decatur, GA. 
● On February 9th, 2016, the Board of the City Schools of Decatur passed a resolution regarding a homestead 

exemption for residents over 65-years of age (see Appendix 6). 
● On March 20th, 2018, the Board passed a resolution establishing a Property Tax Study Committee (PTSC, 

see Appendix 7). 
● The PTSC has not yet convened as the Board members leading the committee have recognized a need to 

first engage outside expertise to assist in analyzing property tax data, reviewing policy, and suggesting 
revisions to policy that will achieve the Board’s goals. 

Offereror minimum requirements 
● If not already an approved CSD vendor, complete CSD vendor request form and familial disclosure forms, 

and submit a signed W-9. These forms are attached as Appendices 1-3. 
● Complete contractor immigration and security affidavit, attached as Appendix 4. 

Requests for information and intent to submit 
● To assure the same level of knowledge related to this project for all vendors, requested information as well 

as questions and answers will be emailed to all participating vendors. To receive notice of the questions 
and answers or additional information, prospective offerors are asked to notify astinson@csdecatur.net by 
the time and date listed in the Timeline section of this RFP of their intent to submit a proposal. Failure to 
notify of your intent to submit a proposal will result in offeror not receiving questions and answers or 
additional information. 

● CSD will issue responses to inquiries and any other corrections or amendments it deems necessary in 
written addenda. Vendors should not rely on any representations, statements, or explanations other than 
those made in this RFP including the appendices or in any addendum to this RFP. 

● Where there appears to be a conflict between the RFP and any addenda issued, the last addendum issued 
will prevail. 

Evaluation 
● Proposals will be evaluated based on thoroughness of response, CSD’s prior experience with the vendor, 

vendor’s prior experience with comparable projects, vendor’s understanding of the project, vendor’s 
qualifications, and pricing. 

● If presentations are necessary for clarification, vendors submitting proposals will be notified during the 
evaluation process. Presentations will occur on the date listed in the Timeline section of this RFP. Up to four 
vendors may be asked to present to the selection committee prior to the awarding of the contract.  
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● CSD reserves the right to reject any one or all proposals, or any part of any proposal, and to award the 
purchase in the best interest of CSD. CSD is not required to accept the lowest bid. 

● CSD is not obligated to award any contract or purchase order based on the issuance of this RFP. 
● If CSD chooses to engage with a vendor, the Board of Education will vote to approve CSD’s engagement with 

the preferred vendor on the date listed in the Timeline section of this RFP. 

Contract & contract termination 
● The selected vendor will be required to execute a contract with CSD. CSD will reserve the right to terminate 

the contract if the selected vendor should persistently or repeatedly refuse to or fail to provide skilled work 
or proper materials, or consistently fails to meet service level agreements and timelines. 

● Please provide an editable version of a draft contract, which contains all pertinent pricing. Terms and 
conditions should be submitted with your RFP response. CSD reserves the right to negotiate the terms and 
conditions of the contract. 

Compliance with laws and permits 
The selected vendor will comply with all local, state, and federal rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and laws 
relating to the work securing and paying for any necessary permits and laws. 

Open Records Act 
Any material submitted in response to this solicitation will become property of the City Schools of Decatur. CSD is a 
governmental entity that is subject to the Georgia Open Records Act (“ORA”). After contract award, documents 
submitted to CSD in the bidding process are presumed to be subject to the ORA; however, documents that an 
offeror contends contains specific trade secrets may be marked as trade secrets. An offeror is required to submit 
and attach to the specific trade secret record an affidavit affirmatively declaring the specific information in the 
records that constitutes a trade secret, as defined by Georgia law. If the offeror attaches such an affidavit and if 
inspection or copies are requested under the ORA, CSD will contact offeror to advise offeror that said documents 
have been requested and will be produced if CSD determines they do not constitute trade secrets. Offeror shall 
have the amount of time stated in the notice to seek legal remedy preventing the disclosure of the documents. If 
CSD has not received a valid judicial order or decree preventing the disclosure of the documents, they will be 
disclosed in accordance with the time requirements contained in the ORA. 

Proposal submissions 
● Proposals must fully address the “Scope of work” section that follows. Use the section/item numbers in 

proposal to clarify which items the proposal addresses. If other attachments are included, indicate which 
section the attachments address.  

● Vendors are required to provide all requested information. Vendors must verify that they have received 
and read all questions and answers issued by CSD in relation to this RFP. Failure to follow instructions 
contained in this Request for Proposals may result in the rejection of a proposal. 
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● Vendors interested in this project should send files in PDF format via email no later than the time and date 
listed in the Timeline section of this RFP to astinson@csdecatur.net, with subject line “RFP #19-B001 
[vendor name]” where the name of the Vendor replaces the placeholder in that subject line. 

● The time of receipt shall be the timestamp contained on the email from the proposed vendor. Proposals 
received after the stated deadline will be considered untimely and will not be considered. 

● It is the responsibility of the vendor to be certain the proposal has been received electronically by CSD. 
Vendor may request an email receipt or may call Ashaki Stinson, Executive Assistant to the Superintendent, 
at 404.371.3601 to confirm receipt. 

● Proposals received after the time and date listed in the Timeline section of this RFP will not be accepted. 
● Once proposals are submitted, proposal modifications are not allowed. Complete withdrawal or complete 

exchange of proposal is acceptable if done before the scheduled proposal closing date. 
● Vendors must acknowledge any issued addenda by completing the form provided in Appendix 5. Submittals 

that fail to acknowledge the offeror’s receipt of any addendum will result in the rejection of the submittal if 
the addendum contained information which substantively changes the Owner’s requirements. 

Scope of work 
 
This section contains an initial non-exhaustive list of data and items believed necessary to evaluate the 
effectiveness and financial impact of the 2016 senior tax exemption. For each item, please confirm its relevance, 
and whether it can be provided with any clarification needed. Note any items that are not deemed relevant, and 
why. Further, please add any items not included in this list which are necessary to complete the requested 
evaluation. 
  

1. Provide an economic analysis of the effectiveness and cost of the senior homestead tax exemption.  
2. Determine and report the following items for the school district for each tax year 2013 to present. When 

asked to break down data by land use category include a breakdown for Low Density Residential (RL) and 
Medium Density Residential (RM) unless Industrial (I) and Commercial (C) are specifically included. (Note: 
RL includes Single Family R-85, R-60, R-50, and RM includes medium density single family and multi-family 

R-17, R-18, R-22, R-43). Refer to the City of Decatur website for further land use and zoning descriptions: 
http://www.decaturga.com/city-government/city-departments/planning-and-zoning-redesign/permits-a
nd-zoning/land-use-zoning). Make note if there are significant values of appealed assessments that are yet 
unresolved which would have a measurable impact on total values. 
2.1. total taxable assessed value and annual growth of all land use categories (RL, RM, I, and C).  
2.2. total taxable assessed value and annual growth broken down by land use category (RL, RM, I, and C) 
2.3. total taxable assessed value and annual growth by exemption type and land use category 
2.4. total annual tax loss by exemption type and land use category 
2.5. distribution of assessed property values by exemption type and land use category  
2.6. number of properties by exemption type and land use category 
2.7. number of properties that have sold by exemption type and land use category  
2.8. student enrollments total by exemption type and land use category  
2.9. age, income of property owners and years of current property ownership by exemption type and 

land use category 
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3. What has been the annual and cumulative financial impact on CSD of the loss of revenue from the 2016 
senior homestead exemption? What would be the projected annual and total impact over 10 years if no 
changes are made? 
3.1. How can CSD best track and quantify the effect of the 2016 senior homestead exemption? What 

impact has the 2016 exemption had on slowing the growth in enrollments? 
3.2. Have more residents in RL homes without enrolled students stayed in place since passage of the 

2016 senior homestead exemption? 
3.3. Is there a correlation between residents staying in place in RL and passage of the 2016 senior 

homestead exemption? 
3.4. Since the senior homestead exemption, how many seniors have moved to Decatur into RL and RM 

homes? How does this compare to a similar time frame before the exemption? 
3.5. How many residents qualifying for the senior homestead exemption in both RL and RM homes have 

students enrolled? 
3.6. What percentage of eligible households of RL and RM homes are taking the senior homestead 

exemption? 
3.7. What are the income levels of those taking the senior homestead exemption in RL and RM homes? 
3.8. Are there other data points on age, income, or other potential tax exemption qualifiers that would 

be helpful in assessing and targeting the effectiveness of homestead tax exemptions?  
3.9. Provide property specific case study examples of the “before” and “after” impact to demonstrate the 

typical expected impact of proposed changes. 
4. Provide recommendations 

4.1. Provide options, recommendations, and impact projections for adjustments to and/or alternatives           
including but not limited to possible tiered options to the homestead tax exemptions which would               
improve its effectiveness, contain costs, and where in keeping with the preceding goals better target               
tax relief at a cost not to exceed a loss of tax revenue of approximately $1,200,000 relative to 2016                   
values as originally anticipated and communicated to taxpayers. 

4.2. Provide a model with which we can run scenarios based on recommendations and possible tiered               
tax exemption options to predict anticipated impact. 

4.3. How should we structure changes to the senior homestead exemption in order not to preclude 
possible future considerations of other forms of tax relief? 

Additional information 
● CSD is a tax-exempt institution and a tax-exempt form will be provided on request. 
● CSD reserves the right to reject any one or all proposals, or any part of any proposal, and to award the 

purchase in the best interest of CSD. CSD is not obligated to award any contract or purchase order based on 
the issuance of this RFP. 
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Appendix 1: Vendor setup request form 
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Appendix 2: Familial disclosure statement 
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Appendix 3: W-9 
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Appendix 4: Contractor security and immigration compliance 

affidavit 
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Appendix 5: Acknowledgement of addendum form 
 
The Offeror has examined and carefully studied the Specifications and the following Addenda, receipt of all of which is hereby 
acknowledged: 
 
Addendum # __________ Date: __________ Acknowledgement (Initial): __________ 
 
 
Addendum # __________ Date: __________ Acknowledgement (Initial): __________ 
 
 
Addendum # __________ Date: __________ Acknowledgement (Initial): __________ 
 
 
Addendum # __________ Date: __________ Acknowledgement (Initial): __________ 
 
 
Addendum # __________ Date: __________ Acknowledgement (Initial): __________ 
 
 
 
Offerors must acknowledge any issued addenda. Submittals which fail to acknowledge the offeror’s receipt of any addendum 
will result in the rejection of the submittal if the addendum contained information which substantively changes the Owner’s 
requirements. 
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Appendix 6: Homestead exemption resolution 
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Appendix 7: Property Tax Study Committee resolution 
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